Felpham

Felpham was in existence long before Bognor Regis, having been mentioned in the Domesday
Book of the 11th century, under the hundred of Binstead: St Edward's Abbey [Shaftesbury Abbey]
owned Felpham before 1066 and many years after. Its value before 1066 was said to be £10.
William Blake, introduced to the village by his friend William Hayley, lived in Felpham for three
years while writing his Milton: A Poem in Two Books. The poem contains his famous words about
"England's green and pleasant land", today known as the anthem "Jerusalem", which were
inspired by Blake's "evident pleasure" in the Felpham countryside.

The cottage where he lived is depicted in the illustrations for the poem. It lies within the original
village, close to the Fox public house. Of the village he wrote:

Away to sweet Felpham for heaven is there:

The Ladder of Angels descends through the air

On the turrett its spiral does softly descend
Through the village it winds, at my cot it does end.

The "turrett" in the verse is Hayley's Turret House, east of the church, which he built around 1800.
It was in Felpham that Blake had his altercation with the drunken soldier John Scofield, who was
trespassing in his garden. This led to Blake's trial for sedition because of Scofield's allegation that
he had cursed the king for which with kindly Felpham neighbours testifying in his favour he was
duly acquitted. Blake has a road named after him, Blake's Road, the road on which his former
residence is sited, and a memorial window dedicated to him in St Mary's Church.

Blake's host, Hayley, was also famous in his day for having turned down the offer of the position
of poet laureate in 1790.

The former parish of Felpham, which included the hamlets of Flansham and Ancton and which lies
on the south coast east of Bognor Regis and within sight of the South Downs. The northern and
western boundaries of the ancient parish generally followed the Aldingbourne rife and its
tributaries the Felpham or Flansham rife and the lower part of the Aldingbourne rife, called brynes
fleot in 680 and 953, at the latter date bounded the Anglo-Saxon estate of Felpham.

To prevent the incursion of the sea into the valley of the Aldingbourne rife defences were
constructed near its mouth by the early 15th century. A bridge, called Felpham bridge, had been
built by 1405, presumably occupying the site of the modern bridge at the point where the estuary
is narrowest. The sea wall or bank on the archbishop of Canterbury's land to the west of it,
mentioned in 1436, had been built at the same time, and it is likely that there was a similar bank to
the east. The two constructions are probably represented by the earthworks which survived in
1992, in Felpham along the north side of Upper Bognor Road, and in Bognor Regis in the grounds
of the University of Chichester. It is not clear whether the sluice mentioned at the bridge from
1454 was original to it or had been added later. Flooding during the 15th century damaged the
bridge at least twice, and also devastated the archbishop's fishery at the mouth of the rife; in 1455
a road near the bridge, presumably on the sea wall, was also submerged. A commission of walls
and ditches for the estuary was formed in 1422 and afterwards renewed.



The sluice mentioned at Felpham in 1535 was perhaps on the same site as the earlier one however
much land had been reclaimed to the south by c. 1680 when a lower sluice had been constructed
beyond the present coastline; it was evidently of timber and had a double exit.

Four groynes were put up near 'Felpham sluices' before 1721, but thereafter the coast began to be
subject to further erosion. New defences near the sluices were constructed by the sewer’s
commissioners for the western part of Sussex in the early 19th century, while nearby to the east
embankments and groynes had been put up by 1828 at the expense of landowners. Parts of the
sewers commissioners' groynes were destroyed by heavy seas in 1838; a new sluice and other
works were constructed in the same year and further groynes, after more damage, c. 1857.

In 1866 the timber sea wall at the mouth of the Aldingbourne rife was badly damaged by storms
and a concrete wall was built further inland to replace it. After that too had been damaged in the
following winter a third wall with new sluices was constructed still further inland on the present
coastline. The coast is reckoned to have receded c. 230 yd. (207 metres) in the west part of the
parish between 1778 and c. 1875, and 3% acres on a Felpham farm was said c. 1862 to have been
recently washed away. A cottage and land in the south-east corner disappeared between 1824
and c. 1840.

Responsibility for the upkeep of defences continued to be divided between the sewers
commissioners and landowners, notably the duke of Richmond; and the construction of stronger
defences at Bognor, which extended as far as the parish boundary, seems likely to have added to
Felpham's problems. A period of rapid inroads before 1895 destroyed a road near the sluices and
caused the White windmill west of Blake's Road to be abandoned; by 1898 several groynes were
in disrepair. The sea wall at the Aldingbourne rife was partly renewed c. 1912. By the 1930s a
short stretch of low sea wall with a promenade extended along part of the coast at least between
the Bognor boundary and Blake's Road, the rest of the coastline of the parish then remaining low
cliffs of Upper chalk. Defences east of Blake's Road were reconstructed by the army after wartime
damage, and a new sea wall and promenade were built between Bognor and Blake's Road in the
mid 1950s. The promenade was extended eastwards towards the Middleton boundary in the
1960s. The lower course of the Aldingbourne rife was straightened in 1959 during the construction
of Butlin's holiday camp in Bognor Regis. Another new sea wall and promenade were built in the
south-west corner of the parish c. 1993, and rock groynes were constructed off-shore c. 1995.
Felpham and Middleton c. 1875

Apart from breaches of the coastline by the sea, the parish has often experienced flooding in the
19th and 20th centuries as a result of heavy rain in the catchment area of its streams. Copperas
stone was collected from the beach in 1711 and sea spinach was gathered in 1828. Eels were
caught in the later 19th century or earlier 20th in the Ryebank rife on the Yapton boundary. Asin
other parishes on the coastal plain there were several ponds in the 19th century, for instance along
the eastern section of Felpham Way. Land use in the late 20th century was mixed. The southern
part of the ancient parish was built over, and though the broad meadows backed by trees which
had formerly separated Felpham from Bognor Regis had given way to Butlin's holiday camp in
1960, a gap between the two places remained further inland. Much of the north end of the parish
was still farmed in 1992, though a large area in the north-west had been converted into a golf
course in the 1920s.



There has never apparently been much woodland in the parish; the woods on the manor yielding
30 swine in 1086 may have been in the Weald. Despite the grant of free warren at Felpham to
Shaftesbury abbey, owner of the manor, in 1293 no park is ever known to have existed.

Settlement before the 18th century seems to have been clustered around central points. Felpham
village occupies slightly rising ground in the extreme south-west corner of the parish close to the
Aldingbourne rife. The road through the village had no importance before the 19th century; hence
perhaps the village's hotchpotch street pattern. A 'burnt mound' north-west of the church has
revealed Mesolithic and Bronze Age activity, and there may have been Roman settlement at the
west end of Limmer Lane.

In the late 18th century and early 19th there were 25-30 dwellings, not all aligned to the roads and
with much open land between them; among the larger were Church House, the Old Rectory, Turret
House ( William Hayleys residence), and the Manor House in Limmer Lane. With the growth of the
resort there had been some infilling by the 1870s, including two terraces in Waterloo Road, of
which one incorporates a converted farm building faced with beach pebbles. After 1914 a large
house, the Forest, later the Gateway school, was built south of the church in grounds of c. 2 a.
which included specimen trees. Until the 20th century the village was separated from the sea by
fields, so that houses on its southern edge had uninterrupted coastal views.

Felpham's rural character, still unspoilt c. 1917, when farms continued to abut the main

street, was gradually eroded during the next 40 years, as the parish shared in Bognor Regis's
growth: already by 1930 one visitor considered that the village had become like other outlying
parts of that town, though in 1992 the combination of old buildings, high flint walls, trees, and
the picturesque arrangement of roads, retained for it an old-fashioned air. Farm buildings
northeast and east of the church were demolished after c. 1920 and replaced by shops and a
garage, while a large flat-roofed block of shops with flats above, more appropriate to a London
suburb, was built on a prominent site to the south. Turret House was demolished in 1961 and the
former Gateway school in or after 1978, but the Old Rectory and Church House escaped that fate,
and were converted respectively into flats for the elderly and offices. Further houses, shops, and
flats, some also for the elderly and some incongruous in architectural style or scale, were built in
the same period. Many residents at that time nevertheless strongly wished to preserve the
village's separateness from Bognor.

Building materials used in older buildings in the village, as elsewhere in the parish, include timber-
framing, brick, flint, sometimes squared and sometimes as cobbles, 'Bognor rock' sandstone
rubble, and thatch.

The oldest surviving secular building in the village is Pear Tree cottage in Vicarage Lane, an early
16th-century timber-framed house of three bays with a queen-post roof and internal smokehood.
A lean-to was afterwards added on the north side, and apparently in the late 16th century or early
17th the house was largely encased in walls of rubble. Two gables were added on the south front
in the late 19th or early 20th century. Two demolished buildings northeast and south of the church
were also probably 16th- or 17th-century: both apparently had a hall range and parlour cross wing,
and the former also a one-storeyed east service end.

Blake's cottage in Blake's Road is apparently 17th-century with later alterations. Other 17thC
buildings, all in Felpham Road, are Lavenham cottage, at right angles to the road, Lavender cottage,



and probably the timber framed house called the Barn next to the George inn. The main range of
the timber-framed Fox inn, burnt down in 1946, seems to have been 17th-century to judge from
the window shapes, chimneystack, and lobby entrance; its taller cross wing was perhaps slightly
later and contained a bay window apparently inserted in the 18th century. The early 19th-century
Church cottage in Felpham Road has a Gothic window in the rear wall to light the staircase; the
porch of bulbous and uneven flint columns is apparently an addition.

The hamlet of Flansham in the north part of the parish also occupies slightly rising ground,
together with Hoe Farmhouse to the northwest. A late Bronze Age 'founder's hoard' from Hoe
Lane possibly indicates occupation and there is evidence for Roman settlement. About 1844 there
were 12 dwellings loosely scattered around a junction of three lanes and in 1898 two farms and 14
cottages. Several new houses and bungalows, some large, were built after c. 1910, chiefly at the
west end. Though the hamlet's nearness to the Bognor- London road was stressed when Flansham
farm was advertised for sale in 1837, by the mid 20th century it was notable for its seclusion and
rural aspect despite close proximity to the edge of Bognor's built-up area. ElIms grew so thickly in
the 1940s as to render part of Hoe Lane virtually a tunnel in summer.

Ancton hamlet lies close to the Middleton boundary in the east part of the ancient parish. There
were only four or five dwellings in the mid 19th century besides two or three houses built on
roadside waste in Yapton Road to the west. (fn. 89) The 20th-century history of settlement at
Ancton is treated below. The Ancton House hotel, formerly Ancton Farmhouse, was built in the
17th century to a T-shaped plan, the rear wing having one storey with attics; the tall west cross
wing was refronted and remodelled in the early 19th century. Ancton Manor was originally a 17th-
century house of three-roomed plan; the central and eastern rooms were probably originally
timber-framed and the western room was built or rebuilt in flint with brick dressings in 1677. The
eastern section was reconstructed in the same materials in 1751. The whole house was
refurbished in the 19th century, and probably at the same period a staircase was cut through the
large 17th-century chimneystack in the centre.

Innerwick and Outerwick, evidently outlying demesne farms of Felpham manor lying between
Felpham and Flansham, were the nucleus of Wick tithing recorded from 1543, which in 1803
included the lower part of Flansham Lane. Roman pottery found near Outerwick Farmhouse may
indicate earlier settlement in the area, and there was a Romano-British farmstead east of Flansham
Lane. The smithy recorded at Wick in 1624 perhaps occupied the site of the later one in Felpham
Way east of Summerley Lane, and in 1778 there was a cluster of houses near the crossroads
formed by those two roads and the modern Firs Avenue. Other houses then existed in Felpham
Way to east and west. About 1844 there was a virtually continuous line of houses along the north
side only of Felpham Way between the north end of Felpham Road and Outerwick Farmhouse,
besides c. 16 dwellings east of Outerwick and in Flansham Lane; some in both areas had evidently
been built on roadside waste. During the 19th century the junction of Felpham Way, Flansham
Lane, and Middleton Road became a focus for the surrounding nucleated settlements in Felpham
and Middleton parishes, with the presence of the school, a public house, a pound, and the parish
poorhouse.

Innerwick Farmhouse has a three-bayed, twostoreyed, 18th-century front perhaps built in 1734,
the date inscribed over the door. The stuccoed Outerwick Farmhouse on Felpham Way was built c.
1800 and has two storeys with an attic and an elegant doorcase. In poor condition, it was gutted by



fire in 1992. Older houses further west in Felpham Way include the 18th century Bentinck House
of painted red brick, and the grander Wyke House and Richmond House.

The number of houses in the parish rose from 74 in 1801 to 119 in 1861 and 208 in 1901, with
particularly large increases in the 1860s and 80s, largely absorbed within the existing areas of
settlement. The history of late 19th- and 20th-century development, on the other hand, is of the
gradual spread of houses through the south and central parts of the parish, joining Felpham to
Middleton on the east and almost to Bognor on the west. There was rapid development in the
1920s and was matched by large increases in population in the 1920s and 30s. Development was
by individual estates, sometimes private, which often did not connect with their neighbours; their
picturesque layout, with trees and grass verges that in Limmer Lane formed banks above road
level, gave the southern part of the parish the appearance of a 'garden city by the sea'. Several
estates remained private in 1992.

Land between the coastguard station south of the village and the sea was offered for sale, as the
Felpham Mill building estate, in 1884. The streets east of Sea Road had already been laid out, and
during the next 25 years they were built up piecemeal with a mixture of chiefly small brick or
rendered terraced and semidetached houses, many of which were let as apartments in summer. In
Canning Road houses were built only on the north side, one terrace having a continuous balcony of
seaside character. Directly in front of the sea and along the west side of Sea Road a group of
cheaper houses were put up in the 1910s, standing on stilts to avoid flooding; some incorporated
railway carriages, and they had outdoor staircases, decorated verandas, and roof gardens. The
area was separate from the village in the 1910s and 20s, when it was known as 'Felpham by the

sea.

East and north-east of the coastguard station the 'Felpham building estate' was marked out for
housing by 1904, but development seems not to have begun before 1910, when Admiralty Road
had houses on its north side. There were at least 34 houses in Blake's Road and streets to the east
by 1927; the area, described in 1922 as a garden estate, was largely built up by 1934 and fully by
1940.

West of Felpham village, in what until 1913 was part of Bersted parish, the lower part of Links
Avenue was built up by the farmer E. F. Sait ¢. 1909-12. By 1934 land to the north, formerly part of
Bognor golf course, had also been laid out chiefly with detached houses and bungalows.

After the First World War building development spread along the coast to the east. There were at
least four houses on the Felpham Beach estate south of Limmer Lane in 1918 and many by 1927.
The Summerley estate further east was laid out after c. 1922; it was called the chief estate in the
parish in 1927 and has always retained its exclusivity. Big houses were also built along Limmer
Lane itself and in streets to the north. On the Beach estate the streets adopted a rectangular
pattern around an oblong green. The western part of the Summerley estate also had straight
roads, but the later portion to north and east was on a more picturesque plan with curving roads
and a patch of woodland in Crossbush Road. Manor Close north of Limmer Lane has large houses
picturesquely arranged around a roughly oval space. By 1934 the area described was largely built
up and by 1940 wholly so, except for the eastern part of the Summerley estate which was not
finished until after 1945. The remaining land south of Felpham Way and Middleton Road, except
for that reserved for recreation, was developed for building in the 1960s and 70s with a mixture of
houses and bungalows.



North of the Felpham-Littlehampton road, meanwhile, building had begun around Innerwick
Farmhouse c. 1923. There were houses in Firs Avenue, Newbarn Lane, and Outerwyke Road by
1927, and more were built in the same area before 1940. On the Roundle estate to the east some
houses had been built by 1932 and further roads, including Roundle Square with a central open
lawn, marked out, most of the area being built up by 1940. Downview Road further west, leading
to the new golf course, was laid out by 1934, when some large houses had been built, others
following before 1940. (fn. 132) By 1957 there had been further development both east and west
of Downview Road, and by 1980 virtually the whole area between the school playing fields on the
west and Flansham Lane on the east had been built up with a mixture of detached and
semidetached houses and bungalows with some terraced houses.

Felpham as a seaside resort

Until the mid18th century Felpham's economy was based on agriculture and maritime activities.
After that date it developed a new character as a holiday resort. The poet William Hayley enjoyed
sea bathing there as a child in the 1750s, and in 1770 he and others from Chichester visited
Felpham for 'a little party of pleasure'. There were bathing machines by 1781; in newspaper
advertisements placed between that date and 1799 of houses to let for the season the village, 'at
once rural and marine', was extolled as also having a dry and healthy soil, opportunities for sailing,
and a 'genteel’ clientele. It was perhaps because of Felpham's evident success as a resort, albeit
small, that Sir Richard Hotham chose nearby Bognor c. 1785 for his much larger projected
undertaking of the same kind.

Hayley bought a furnished cottage at Felpham in 1791 to continue his association with the sea and
moved to the village permanently in 1800. The duke of Richmond's sister-in-law, the sculptress
Anne Seymour Damer, also visited the place in 1791 and other aristocratic patrons followed, many
visiting Hayley. Besides the attractions already indicated, there were great houses nearby to see,
while boats could be hired for excursions to the Owers lightship or Selsey Bill. In the early 19th
century, in contrast to the grander style represented by Bognor's hotel, subscription room, library,
and other visitors' facilities, Felpham remained quiet and informal, while also taking the overflow
of Bognor's visitors at busy times. There were several lodging houses in 1807, when in
accommodation, views, and situation Felpham was reckoned far superior to South Bersted.

In the mid 19th century other moneyed or retired people moved into the parish to live
permanently, together with at least one artist. Nineteen parishioners besides clergy were listed as
private residents in 1887, 30 in 1895, and 47 in 1899. As a seaside resort Felpham retained its lack
of formality in 1868 when bathing without machines was allowed there, one secluded place being
reserved for women.

From the early 20th century Felpham maintained its dual character of a seaside resort and a place
for permanent residence. Both functions were enhanced by its relative seclusion, the mild, sunny,
and healthy climate, the nearness of Bognor with its services and entertainments, and easy access
from London. Besides the longstanding activities of bathing, fishing, and boating developed new
ones like tennis and golf, and c. 1922 daily 'charabanc' excursions were on offer. Felpham also
retained its lack of conventionality in contrast to larger resorts; unlike at Bognor there were no
rules or bylaws about access to the sea, and at least one boarding house c. 1922 allowed 'bathing
from house'. Bathing huts could also be hired on part of the front. About 1930 Felpham was
described as the family resort par excellence.



Houses by the sea east of Blake's Road retained private access to the beach until the construction
of a promenade along that stretch of coast in the 1960s.

There were two retailers of wine or ale in 1543, one alehouse in 1605, and several in 1613. A
victualler was recorded in 1706. Of the two chief inns of the village the Fox existed by 1799 and
was rebuilt after virtual destruction by fire in 1946, while the George existed, as the George and
Dragon, by 1832.

Two coastal beacons had been erected southeast of the church by 1587 in connexion with defence
against the Spanish Armada.

The poet William Hayley (d. 1820) built himself a house in Felpham village and moved there
permanently in 1800. The two-storeyed building, later known as Turret House, had a lofty turret of
square plan over the entrance which carried a circular lookout giving fine coastal views. The upper
floor of the three bayed east front housed a library decorated with busts and pictures. The garden
included a covered way for riding exercise. Battlements were added and the building otherwise
considerably altered later in the 19th century, and by 1951 the house had been converted into
flats. It was demolished in 1961.

Resident in the parish at the same time as Hayley was the Revd. Cyril Jackson, former dean of
Christ Church, Oxford (d. 1819), and tutor to the Prince Regent, who leased the Old Rectory from
1807 or earlier; despite the proximity of their houses, however, the two men did not associate.

It was at Hayley's instigation that William Blake spent the years 1800-3 in a cottage close to the Old
Rectory, writing, engraving, and painting portraits chiefly of poets for Hayley's library. Though he
left Felpham in disillusion after being accused of Sedition by billeted soldiers (ready for anticipated
invasion by Napoleon) Blake was at first happy there, describing it as 'the sweetest spot on earth’,
'a dwelling for immortals', and the villagers as 'polite and modest', the men 'the mildest of the
human race'.

The Glaswegian artist and printer James Guthrie moved his Pear Tree press to Flansham in 1907
and lived and worked there until his death in 1952. He was visited by his friend the poet Edward
Thomas, and in the 1920s by the novelist Evelyn Waugh who proposed himself as his apprentice.
Another Edwardian resident of Flansham was the actress Mrs. Lewis Waller (Florence West) (d.
1912), who lived at Chessels house, holding theatrical house parties attended by, among others,
Aubrey Beardsley and Mr. and Mrs. Beerbohm Tree.

MANOR AND OTHER ESTATES

King Alfred (d. 899) devised an estate at FELPHAM to Osferth, a relative and in 953 King Eadred
granted what may have been the same, described as 30 hides, to his mother Eadgifu. From the
bounds listed the latter was clearly at least as large as the area of the ancient parish. By 1066
Felpham had passed to Shaftesbury abbey (Dors.), with which it remained until the Dissolution; in
1244 it was apparently two fees. Land held by Shaftesbury in the later Middle Ages in Egdean,
Fittleworth, and Kirdford represents Wealden outliers of the Anglo-Saxon estate, but by that period
the main part of the manor seems to have been coterminous with Felpham ancient parish. The
reduction in hidation between 1066 and 1086 may be due to the creation of Elmer manor.

In 1574 the Crown granted the manor to Robert Dudley, earl of Leicester; he sold it in 1584 to (Sir)



Henry Goring of Burton (d. 1594), who was succeeded in the direct line by Sir William Goring (d.
1601-2) and Sir Henry Goring (d. 1626). The manor house and demesne were excepted from the
Crown grant of 1574 but also belonged to the Gorings by 1614; they were sold in 1620 and the
manor itself in 1623 to pay the second Sir Henry's debts; the purchaser was Nicholas Thompson (d.
1628), whose widow Mary was dealing with the manor in 1630. In 1631, however, Felpham was in
the hands of his two daughters and coheirs Elizabeth, wife of John Boys, and Catherine, by 1635
the wife of Robert Anderson. In 1640 the estate was divided between them, the manor itself, with
what were later Innerwick and Outerwick farms and other demesne land, going to Robert and
Catherine, and the rest of the demesne in Felpham and Flansham to John and Elizabeth.

Robert Anderson (fl. 1635; d. 1686) was succeeded by a namesake (fl. 1697), who was succeeded
before 1702 by (Sir) Richard Anderson. He in 1704 sold the manor to Francis Doyley (d. in or after
1711). Francis's son and namesake (fl. 1723-4), was succeeded before 1730 by his son Thomas. At
Thomas's death in 1770 the manor passed to his son Matthias, who in 1801 sold it to William
Pellett. He and his wife Charlotte sold Felpham in 1821 to John Heather Hussey and William
Titchenor, mercers and drapers of Chichester. Hussey died in 1827 and was succeeded by his son
William, probably the William Heather Hussey who died c. 1862. In 1849 the estate included Hoe
farm at Flansham and what was called Manor Farmhouse in Felpham Way. By that date William
Titchenor had died, his heirs being his daughters Maria, Elizabeth, and Frances. About 1866
Elizabeth and Frances, with Mary Ann Hussey, evidently William's widow, sold the manor to
Charles Thomas Marshall, who conveyed it in 1870 to James Wilson, a civil engineer. Wilson was
still lord in 1881. The lordship was later said to belong to W. M. Chinnery (in 1887), Mrs. Auld
(1895), James Gibson (1899-1905), and Mrs. J. W. Clayton (1913-38). Manor Farmhouse with 54 a.
had meanwhile been exchanged by C. T. Marshall c. 1867 to the duke of Richmond.

Elizabeth Thompson's share of the Felpham estate was conveyed by her husband John Boys in
1666 to Roger Sparkes, then vicar of Felpham (d. 1679), from whom it descended in the Sparkes
family, apparently through Robert (d. 1698), Thomas (fl. 1703-20), and Thomas's son Robert (d.
1742 or 1743), who devised lands in Felpham to his son, also Thomas. Another Robert Sparkes
(perhaps fl. 1792) was one of the chief landowners of the parish in 1819. Robert was succeeded,
as tenants in common, by his sons Charles and Francis, who in 1824 had 230 a. in Felpham. In
1827 they conveyed that land to the duke of Richmond, and it afterwards descended with the
other estates of the dukedom.

In the mid 19th century the former Sparkes farm was known as Felpham farm. The reunited
demesne farm was sold in 1911 to the tenant Robert Sadler, part passing in 1922 to Summerley
Estates Ltd.

A manor house, evidently once the residence of Shaftesbury abbey's bailiff, was mentioned from
1530. Its site is unknown, but three buildings were later associated with the manor.

Church House, which descended with the Boys share of the estate, occupies a typical position for

a manor house close to the church. It is a three-bayed, two-storeyed building of the early or mid
18th century with a front of red and grey brick and a contemporary staircase. In the 1880s and 90s
it was a farmhouse. The building was saved from demolition in 1966 and was remodelled
internally for office use in 1988.

The Old Manor House in Felpham Way belonged to the Anderson share of the estate and was
called Manor Farmhouse in 1849. The main range of the present building is probably 18th-century,



with a rendered west front and a later rear extension. In the 1930s it was a hotel and in 1988 it
was remodelled as a nursing home.

The Manor House in Limmer Lane owes its name to the fact that successive owners of the manor
lived there from 1871; an earlier title was Felpham House. Of the later 18th century, it has a
rendered front of five narrow bays and three storeys above a high basement. The interior was
extensively refitted in the early 19th century, and later in the century tall bay windows were added
to the south front and extensions put up to east and west. Large cellars included the kitchens and
servants' hall. The grounds in 1883 covered 2% a., most of which remained garden in 1988.
Innerwick Farm was retained by Sir Richard Anderson at his sale of the manor in 1704 and sold by
him to Richard Gibbs in 1714. Gibbs (d. 1720) was succeeded in turn by his son John (d. 1760) and
John's son Richard, from whom the farm passed by 1798 to his mortgagee William Cosens.

Meanwhile Outerwick Farm (183 a.) had been sold in 1791 by Matthias Doyley to Sir Richard
Hotham of Bognor, after whose death in 1799 it was acquired by William Cosens. At William's
death in 1811 his estate in Felpham was divided between his sons Thomas and Edmund, Thomas
receiving Innerwick farm (175 a.) and Edmund Outerwick (134 a.). At Thomas's death in 1864
Innerwick was sold to John Kent, former racehorse trainer to the duke of Richmond, passing also
by sale in 1894 to F. J. Neale and in 1919 to P. A. Norman. Outerwick was sold by Edmund Cosens
in 1832 to William Allin of Arundel (fl. c. 1844), whose daughter and heir Eliza married Henry
Hounsom; c. 1910 it belonged to Henry's son William A. Hounsom (d. 1934). Between 1899 or
earlier and 1912 or later it was let to F. J. Neale. Much of the land of both estates was afterwards
built over, but part remained open space in 1992 as a golf course and school playing fields.

Land at Flansham which members of the Wyatt family bought from Robert Dudley, earl of
Leicester, 1574 - 1584 became the nucleus of the modern FlanshamFarm. In 1722 Richard Wyatt
conveyed 150 a. at Flansham to his son William, presumably the William who died in 1757.

Apparently in 1790 the family's estate at Flansham was sold to William Dyer who conveyed it in
1823 to George Amoore. Amoore acquired other former Wyatt land at Flansham from Richard
Hasler in 1825 and in 1840 sold the whole estate, of. 400 a., to Thomas Sanctuary of Rusper (d.
1876). In 1878 it was enlarged through the purchase by Thomas's son the Ven. Thomas Sanctuary
from the heirs of Charles Duke (d. 1860) of Chessels and Chapel farms, which had earlier belonged
to the Bridger family. The land comprised c. 500 a. in 1879. By 1882 it had passed to C. S. Leslie of
Slindon, descending with the Slindon House estate until in 1908 part (242 a.) was sold to John
Langmead (d. 1950). From him that part descended in the direct line to Jack (d. 1978) and Donald
Langmead (fl. 1988). The long north-south range of the house called the Old Rectory is 17th-
century. A taller block with a two-storeyed bay, providing a new entrance and parlour, was added
to the south end by the lessee Thomas Steele (d. 1775), Tortington priory had 10 a. in Felpham at
the Dissolution. A farm of 80-90 a. at Flansham, with other land and pasture rights, was conveyed
in 1624 as part of the founding endowment of Thompson's hospital or almshouse in Petworth. It
was later called the Hospital farm. In 1921, when it was 56 a. in area, it was

Agriculture

The Anglo-Saxon estate called Felpham in 953 had detached land in Egdean or Fittleworth,
Kirdford, and Petworth which included both houses and common woodland pasture. Agricultural
statistics given for Felpham in Domesday Book seem also to relate to a much larger area than the
parish, and the manor still had holdings in Egdean and Fittleworth in 1500. In 1341 the ninth of



sheaves was worth nine times as much as those of fleeces and lambs together, indicating
predominantly arable farming. Flax, hemp, and apples were grown at that date and cattle and pigs
kept, while the rectory estate as well as the manor had tenants. Medieval farms, besides those

in the nucleated settlements of Felpham, Flansham, and Ancton, possibly included the outlying
demesne holdings of Innerwick and Outerwick, and Hoe farm north-west of Flansham.

Open-field arable is recorded from the 16th century near both Felpham village and Flansham
hamlet; it presumably existed earlier as well. At Felpham in the early 19th century Mill, Owlee,
Water lane, and Little common fields formed an arc between the south and north-east sides of
the village. Punch Gaston common field lay west of Flansham hamlet from the early 17th century,
and Wish common field in 1772 was near Flansham brooks. The Hoe and West and North gastons
recorded at Flansham in 1638 and the Dagmare in the 18th century (fn. 390) were apparently
other open fields. Only Punch Gaston, of 7 a., remained open there in the earlier 19th century.
Woodhill common field, which at the same date lay between Flansham and Outerwick
Farmhouse, was perhaps the Wick or Wick common field of 1656. Though land in the latter field
was sometimes held with land in the Felpham fields, land in the Flansham fields seems never to
have been. No open fields are recorded at Ancton. By 1662 all openfield holdings held of the
manor except one of 7 a. had been engrossed or enfranchised.

Apart from Mill brook in the south-west corner of the parish by Felpham bridge, common
brookland lay chiefly in the north and northwest along the Ryebank and Felpham rifes, where
there were 213 a. in all in 1840; the two areas were sometimes known respectively as Felpham and
Flansham brooks. There was also common pasture at Wick, of unknown location. A holding of 34 a.
at Flansham in 1638 had pasture rights for 6 cattle, 2 horses, and 15 sheep, and on another of 52 a.
in 1819 the comparable figures were 3, 3, and 18. Leases in the brooks were often held with land
in the open fields, but there was the same distinction between those at Felpham and those at
Flansham. Some common brookland was used as meadow, subject apparently to annual division.

In 1540 five freeholders on Felpham manor had holdings of up to 3 yardlands, while more than 50
copyholders had c. 60 tenements between them, some small and others of up to 6 yardlands; none
of the land mentioned lay outside the parish. One copyhold at least was held for three lives in
1548, as was common practice later; copyholds could be sublet in the 1540s. The demesne was
then leased, as like other monastic demesnes it had been before, and as it continued to be later

in the 16th century. Tortington priory had copyhold land in Felpham in 1537 but no other estate
outside the parish is ever recorded as having land within it.

During the earl of Leicester's ownership of Felpham 1574-84 much land held of the manor was
sold or converted to leasehold, becoming the kernels of later farms, for instance the unnamed
holdings of 60 or 80 a. at Ancton in the 17th century. (fn. 410) In 1640 there were at least seven
farms on the demesne. Only a few small freeholds and copyholds remained at that period and by
the late 18th century there were only one or two. Farms generally grew in size between the 17th
century and the early 19th; already in 1667 one holding based at Flansham and including a lease
of the rectory estate had over 300 a. Outerwick farm in 1791 had 183 a. and Charles and Francis
Sparkes' farm in 1824 had 230 a. in the parish besides 77 a. in South Bersted. Closes on the two
last named holdings, on Archdeacon Webber's farm in 1834, and on Manor farm, Felpham Way,
c. 1850, were very scattered, indicating their origin under openfield agriculture.



Mixed farming was practised in the parish between the 16th and 18th centuries. Sheep, cattle,
poultry, and pigs were kept, and crops grown were wheat, barley, oats, peas and beans, vetches,
and tares with some woad and hemp. A flock of 160 sheep was recorded at one of the Wick farms
in 1623, one of 600 besides 110 cattle at Flansham and elsewhere in 1667, and others of between
52 and 131 sheep at other dates; the importance of sheep is indicated by the existence of
sheepwashes east of Flansham hamlet and near the Yapton boundary at Bilsham. Parishioners
often farmed land in neighbouring parishes as well as in Felpham during the period. Some seeds
were being grown by the 1730s, and turnips were mentioned on one farm in 1779.

In the early 19th century twice as much wheat as barley seems to have been grown, with lesser
guantities of oats and peas; 117 cattle including draught oxen were listed in 1803, 516 sheep, and
the large number of 295 pigs. A three- or four-course rotation is apparently indicated on one farm
in 1804, and a six-course rotation, apparently of wheat, turnips, barley, seeds, wheat, and beans
with tares, was widely used in 1844. The open fields and common brooks of the parish were
enclosed in 1840 under an Act of 1826. At Felpham village the duke of Richmond received 59 a.
and five other landowners between 1 and 20 a. each. At Flansham George Amoore received 131 a.,
the lords of Felpham manor 25 a., Thompson's hospital, Petworth, at least 19 a., and four other
landowners between 3 and 22 a. each. Other kinds of agricultural improvement were being
practised in 1828, and in 1835 most of the parish was said to be in a high state of cultivation.

About 1844 the two largest holdings were Flansham farm (401 a.), comprising most of the north-
west quarter, and Thomas Cosens' farm which included land at Felpham village and at Wick (358
a.); in 1851 they had 17 and 12 labourers respectively. There were six other holdings of between
80 a. and 175 a. c. 1844. Ancton farm was held in 1852 with Middleton farm, making c. 400 a. in
all, while Felpham farm, based at Church House in Felpham village, was held with Barnham manor
demesne farm as a combined holding of 389 a. c. 1862 and 600 a. in 1881. Flansham farm had 512
a.in 1871 and Innerwick farm 522 a. in 1881. Most land was rented between the mid 19th century
and earlier 20th and there were said to be no resident landowners in 1867 and 1881. Leases of
between 5 and 21 years are recorded between the 1850s and 80s. By ¢. 1910 no farm within the
area of the modern parish was more than 250 a. in area.

Felpham participated in the 'Swing' riots of 1830, when a group of 100-150 labourers, later
growing to a crowd of 500, forced Thomas Cosens to offer to raise agricultural wages; the
introduction of the new Poor Law in 1835 was similarly greeted by a rising. In 1878, on the other
hand, work was said to be plentiful and wages reasonable. The predominance of arable in the
period 1800-75 no longer obtained by the early 20th century: instead of the 856 a. of corn crops,
chiefly wheat, and 313 a. of green crops, mostly turnips and swedes, returned in 1875, there was
then apparently a smaller total acreage, including a much higher proportion of oats; the
corresponding totals for grassland were 463 a. in 1875 and 696 a. in 1909. Many closes were
amalgamated between 1844 and c. 1875. There were three shepherds in 1871.

Beginning in the late 19th century agricultural land in the south part of the parish succumbed
gradually to building development. The chief farmer in the 1920s was P. A. Norman, who besides
using his own land at Innerwick farm leased Outerwick and Drygrounds farms. By the 1980s much
of that land too had been built over or converted to other uses, notably school playing fields and a
golf course. Dairying and poultry farming were practised in the 1920s and 30s and two dairy herds
and a poultry farm remained at Flansham in 1992, but by 1995 little dairying was practised.



Chessels farm at Flansham was managed in the 1940s and later with a downland farm at
Madehurst.

Orchards and market gardens were an alternative land use in the 20th century. Six acres of
orchards had been returned in 1875 and there were 2% a. in the ancient parish, including Ancton,
in 1909. A fruit grower was mentioned c. 1910 and market gardeners and nurserymen from c.
1900, notably north of the village and between Flansham and Ancton. Only one market garden
remained in the modern parish in 1992, on the east side of Flansham Lane. There were allotments
north of the church by 1912, which by 1928 were managed by the parish council.

Mills

There were two mills in the parish in 1341. One was possibly the predecessor of the windmill
recorded on Felpham manor in the 16th century, which since it was said to be in the south-west
part of the parish in 1593 may have occupied the slight elevation at the corner of Felpham and
Upper Bognor roads where later stood what was called the Black windmill. Millers are known by
name from the 16th century. The Black windmill was the only mill recorded in the parish in the
17th and 18th centuries. The very tall smock mill called the White windmill, on the sea front west
of Blake's Road, was built c. 1800 but was abandoned because of sea erosion and demolished in
1879. It was presumably Bognor's rising population during the 19th century which made two mills
viable. About 1844 they were worked together. The Black windmill had also ceased to be used by
1896.

Other trades and industries

Felpham's high assessment to tax in Avisford hundred in 1334 indicates the presence of other
non-agricultural employment. Apart from possibly a chapman at that period and a tailor in 1428,
however, occupations for which there is medieval evidence were all associated with the sea.

A manorial fishery is recorded in 1086 but not later; in the 14th and 15th centuries, however,
there was a 'fishery of Felpham' belonging to the archbishop of Canterbury's estate beyond

the Aldingbourne rife; it was devastated by the sea in 1426. Fish tithes were paid to the rector

in 1341. Several ships or boats were recorded as belonging to Felpham in the 15th and 16th
centuries. The estuary of the Aldingbourne rife may have offered a harbour, but in 1587 the only
good landing places between Pagham and Littlehampton were on the beach, including one in the
east part of the parish and only there around high tide. Most Felpham vessels were in the coastal
trade, but one in 1439 plied to the Low Countries; most seem to have been under 50 tons but
there were two larger ones in 1572. It was presumably maritime activity which caused the
presence in the parish of four aliens, all servants, in 1525. For customs purposes Felpham lay
within Chichester port.

Various fishermen were recorded in the 17th and 18th centuries, and other parishioners besides
a victualler in 1706 probably owned fishing tackle for their own use. Several parishioners were
described as seamen in the 17th century, sometimes four at the same date. In 1801 five boats
were listed, but no-one was then willing to serve as a boatman in the event of invasion by
Napoleon.

Four unmounted coastguards had been established at Felpham c. 1295, as one of only three such
places in the rape. Riding officers for Felpham were appointed from 1699, and in the 1810s and



20s a coastguard officer, two preventive officers, and many boatmen, presumably stationed at
Bognor, were recorded. A coastguard station was built c. 1861 midway between Felpham village
and the sea, comprising a detached officer's house, a watch house, and two rows of red and yellow
brick cottages; the boathouse was east of the modern Blake's Road. In 1887, after the closure of
the coastguard station in Bognor, it was described as Bognor coastguard station. There were 46
inmates in all in 1871. The station was closed in the early 1920s, and soon afterwards three large
houses were built between the rows of cottages, and a parade of shops in the garden of the
officer's house along Felpham Road.

Most other non-agricultural occupations recorded between the 16th and late 18th centuries were
those typical of a small village: baker, brewer, butcher, wheelwright, weaver, tailor, shoemaker,
carpenter and blacksmith. Mercers were mentioned from the later 17th century. Most tradesmen
presumably lived in the village, but brewers and a butcher were recorded in Ancton and Wick
tithings in the 1540s and a smithy was said to lie at Wick in 1624. A butcher of Felpham in 1652
leased a shop and stalls in Arundel high street from the corporation.

In the early 19th century the parish had a very high proportion of tradesmen: more than one in
four of those in work in 1831 and as many as one in two in 1811. During the 19th and 20th
centuries the number and variety of trades increased in step with Felpham's growth as both a
seaside resort and a place for residence or retirement. There was usually at least one grocer or
shopkeeper in that period. Less usual trades in the mid 19th century were those of cabinet maker,
maltster, laundress, marine store dealer, sea defence contractor, and drawing master, while other
specialized occupations mentioned later, with dates of first occurrence, were those of florist
(1895), greengrocer (1899), stationer (1903), fishmonger (1915), tobacconist, newsagent (1922),
and hairdresser (1927). There was a chemist by c. 1922 and two in 1934, a firm of electrical
engineers in 1930, and in the 1930s music sellers, two wine merchants, a landscape gardener, a
wireless engineer, a chimney sweep, an upholsterer, and a watchmaker, besides a toy shop. A coal
merchant was recorded in the village from 1839; there were two in 1927, one of whom was also a
wood merchant and haulage contractor.

By 1791 Sir Richard Hotham had started a lime kiln at the seaward end of Limmer Lane to serve his
building operations in Bognor. Early 19th-century construction in both Felpham and Bognor
presumably gave employment to the bricklayer, masons, and glaziers recorded between 1800 and
the 1830s.There was perhaps a brickyard on the south side of Limmer Lane in 1844. In 1862 one
builder was listed, but the increased rate of development in the early 20th century brought three
firms by 1922, five besides a builders' merchants by 1927, and eight by 1938. Brickfields were
worked for short periods in the early 20th century in the area of the modern parish and at
Flansham. The increasing number of moneyed residents provided work for jobbing gardeners from
1887 or earlier,while the expansion of the seaside resort from the later 19th century, besides
giving rise to the lodging houses, guest houses, and hotels mentioned elsewhere, brought cafés
and refreshment rooms, of which there were six in 1934 including one on the esplanade. In 1992
there were several restaurants in the area of the ancient parish excluding Ancton, besides two
premises selling 'take-away' food.

A wheelwright continued in business until 1905 together with two blacksmiths, one in the village
and one in Felpham Way to the east, the latter surviving until the 1930s. With the growth of motor
transport two garages had appeared by 1934, both beside what was then still a main route into



Bognor Regis. The premises of the Felpham Motor Works south-west of the village, built c. 1920,
could accommodate 30 cars, some in lock-up garages, and the firm also dealt in cycles.

Fishing continued in a small way in the 19th and 20th centuries. Two fishermen were mentioned,
besides other mariners, in the 1810s, there were four in 1841,and two lived in the Sea Road area
in 1905, when they were presumably included in statistics of fishing at Bognor, catching mixed fish
including herrings and shellfish. In 1982 both full- and part-time fishermen operated from the sea
front east of Sea Road.

Riding stables existed in the village between the 1930s and 1992.
Many residents in 1996 were retired, and many others worked elsewhere, especially in Chichester.

Shaftesbury abbey (Dors.) seems likely by virtue of its status to have had jurisdiction on Felpham

manor, which enjoyed it in the mid 16th century and apparently in the early 17th. Right of wreck
belonged to the lord of the rape in 1209-10 but in 1630 was claimed, apparently with success, by
the lady of the manor. The abbey had a prison at Felpham in 1248.

There are court rolls or draft court rolls for the view of frankpledge and court baron for various
years between 1543 and 1550 and for the court alone for the period 1662-1881. Not more than
two sessions a year took place in the 1540s, the view in 1543 being followed by a sheriff's
tournament. After 1662 courts were held usually once or twice in a decade, the last in 1827;
business was treated out of court by 1662. A plea of land and a case of assault were heard in 1543.
In the 1540s the view held the assize of bread and of ale, and dealt with stray beasts and the
maintenance of streams; the court, besides regulating tenancies, managed the common land and
saw to the repair of roads and fences. After 1662 nearly all business was conveyancing, but a
house was ordered to be repaired in 1730 and a piece of the waste was licensed for enclosure in
1881.

Manor officers were a bailiff in 1535 and 1730, chief pledges for the tithings of Felpham, Ancton,
and Wick in the 1540s, and a tithingman c. 1822. A manor pound was mentioned in 1547.

Two churchwardens were recorded for many years between 1548 and 1694; there was almost
always one only from 1695 to 1850 but afterwards there were usually two. A single overseer
served in 1642 and two in 1826. A rate for church repair was levied in 1623.

Before Felpham joined the Yapton Gilbert union in the 1780s there was a parish poorhouse in
Flansham Lane; afterwards it was rented out by the parish as two cottages and it survived in 1992.
Other methods of poor relief employed between 1790 and 1835 included boarding out,
apprenticing, the provision of clothing and medical care, and the payment of weekly doles either in
lieu of or to supplement wages. Parish work in a gravel pit was said to be organized, not very
effectively, in 1835. Ninety-two parishioners were receiving permanent relief in 1826 and 68 casual
relief. In 1835, evidently in anticipation of the stricter conditions laid down by the 1834 Poor Law
Amendment Act, 43 parishioners joined the Petworth emigration scheme to Canada at the joint
expense of the parish and of local landowners. Ten parishioners were still receiving out relief in
1836.

There was a church in 1086, which evidently belonged with the manor to Shaftesbury abbey
(Dors.). Despite the grant of a licence in 1344 the abbey never appropriated the benefice, though



it continued until the Dissolution to appoint rectors, the living later becoming a sinecure.

A vicarage was ordained by 1386. (It was briefly united with Middleton rectory in 1657. In the
later 19th century union was often advocated again, and the two benefices were united in 1906,
the parishes remaining distinct. The parishes too were united in 1976, when a benefice of Felpham
with Middleton was created of which the incumbent was called rector.

The advowson of the vicarage belonged from 1401 or earlier until the mid 19th century to the
rector. Two, possibly three, laymen who presented in the later 16th century and earlier 17th
were apparently lessees of the rectory estate. Since 1871 the dean and chapter of Chichester
have presented to Felpham and later Felpham with Middleton.

The vicar seems to have received a stipend from the rector before the 16th century, since no
endowment is known at that period. In 1535 the vicarage was valued at £9 10s. 7d. net, but in
1579 Felpham and Middleton together were said to be worth well under £5. In the early 17th
century there was a vicarage house with two garden plots standing south of the church; the vicar
then received all the small tithes including those of hemp, as later. In 1646, when the living was
worth £25 a year, an extra £50 was ordered to be paid from the profits of the rectory. Later
valuations were £34 in 1724, £36 10s. 6d. in 1809, and c. £166 c. 1830.

The vicarage house was said in 1662 to have fallen down many years before, and a replacement
was bought before 1687 by the rector and the lord of the manor with contributions from others;
it stood north-east of the church and then had a parlour, three chambers, and a study, besides
service rooms. In 1724, when some ceilings and parts of the roof and walls were in bad repair,
there was also % a. of glebe, presumably the close south of the church recorded in 1843. The
building was described as unfit for residence c. 1830 and was later demolished, the vicar in 1843
leasing a house in Limmer Lane. At the commutation of tithes at that date a tithe rent charge of
£200 12s. was awarded him.

From 1849 or earlier the vicar leased the Old Rectory house, and in 1861 the ecclesiastical
commissioners settled it on the living together with 8 a. nearby, afterwards giving an augmentation
of £114 a year from 1867. In 1923 a new house for the incumbent in neo-Georgian style was
completed on part of the glebe in Limmer Lane.

The spiritual needs of the northern part of the parish were catered for from the mid 14th century
or earlier by a chapel of ease at Flansham. By 1547 it had fallen into ruins and in 1640 it was
apparently used as a barn.

The vicar in 1529 may also have held Barnham. There was apparently an assistant curate in the
1530s, when a brotherhood of St. Christopher was also recorded. Julian Browning, vicar 1556-82,
was resident in 1563 and 1579, on the second occasion being described as a preacher; throughout
his period of tenure he held Middleton as well. At least two early 17th-century incumbents were
also licensed to preach though the second, William Hill, was inhibited in 1635 through suspicion of
Nonconformity, having told three parishioners from the pulpit he was certain they would be
damned. John Goldwire, minister from 1657, was ejected after the Restoration; his orthodox
successor held other benefices including Middleton and in 1662 did not always reside.

In 1724 a service with sermon was held each Sunday by the assistant curate, holy communion
being celebrated three times a year with 30-40 communicants.



In the 1870s and 80s successive vicars served part of the year as canon residentiary of Chichester
cathedral; one of them, Edward Tufnell (d. 1896), had previously been bishop of Brisbane
(Australia). The assistant curate lived at Richmond House, Felpham Way, in 1895. Weekday cottage
services were held at Flansham in winter in 1898, when there were also daily services in the
church.

The church of St. Mary is faced chiefly with flint and some 'Bognor rock' sandstone and consists
of chancel, aisled nave with south porch and north vestry, and west tower also with north vestry.
The nave was apparently built in the 11th or 12th century and the aisles added in the 13th; the
north aisle arcade, which is the earlier, was cut through the north wall of the existing building,
but the south wall was rebuilt. The north wall has 14th-century clerestory windows. The elegant
chancel, long in proportion to the nave, is early 14th-century and the battlemented tower, with
some chequerwork decoration, is 15th-century. The altar at the east end of the north aisle was
apparently the Lady altar mentioned in 1534, and that in the south aisle perhaps belonged to the
brotherhood of St. Christopher recorded in the 1530s. A bequest to the 'town lights' of Felpham,
Flansham, and Ancton in 1547 may indicate that each tithing of the parish had its own altar. A rood
was mentioned in 1535. Rails or a screen still separated chancel and nave in 1776.

The porch mentioned in 1636 had perhaps been built recently since the present structure, which
was restored or rebuilt c. 1800 and in the 20th century, includes 16th- or 17th-century timber
work. In 1622 both church and chancel were said to be 'very dark and foul'. The chancel ceiling,
windows, and walls were still in poor repair in 1776, when there was a wooden partition behind
the communion table, the space between it and the east wall being filled with rubbish. A south
gallery had been built in the nave by 1784 and was perhaps rebuilt in 1818, but in 1814
accommodation in the church was said to be limited and in 1828 the interior was felt to lack the
clean and neat appearance of South Bersted church. In 1845, when the south gallery partly
obscured the tower arch, there was also a modern arch of wood in front of the chancel arch and
a modern ceiling below the nave roof.

Extensive repairs were carried out c. 1851 and the tower and the nave roof were restored in 1884.
Apparently during the same period most of the chancel window tracery was renewed and its roof
replaced. The tower vestry was built in 1899, when the north aisle wall was apparently refaced,
and the choir vestry beside the north aisle in 1939.

The much restored Sussex marble font is late 12th-century; it has a shallow square bow! decorated
with blank Romanesque arcading in flat strips and rests on five pillars. Its original base lies in the
churchyard opposite the south door. The chest is 13th-century, similar to that at Climping but
plainer; another medieval chest survived in 1845. At the latter date there were still many medieval
open benches, their ends decorated with plain poppyheads; they had mostly been replaced by
1851 but one piece survived in the tower gallery in 1992. A medieval stone altar slab, which had
perhaps been used as paving in the porch in 1857, also remained in 1992 behind the modern altar.
Box pews were built in the church in the later 18th century; one particularly large example near
the chancel arch, enclosed entirely on three sides and on the top except for a square hole to admit
light, obscured the chancel and darkened the pulpit in 1776, when it was compared to a cabinin a
Dutch passage boat.



There were four bells in 1724; one, which survived in 1992, probably of the early 15th century

and three dated between 1599 and 1627, one of them made by Bryan Eldridge and one by Henry
and Roger Tapsell. The other five bells in place in 1992 were of 1883. (The pre-19th-century plate
includes a silver-gilt paten cover dated 1580 with a presumably contemporary tazza-shaped cup,
and a silver paten of 1724. There are carved royal arms on the north nave wall. A monument in

the chancel and a table tomb in the churchyard commemorate Arthur Gore, earl of Arran (d. 1837),
and his wife, residents of Bognor. The registers begin in 1554.

NONCONFORMITY

One woman was presented for recusancy in 1626 and there was one reputed papist in 1781.
In the 19th century some coastguard men and their families were Roman Catholics.

A schoolmaster was licensed to teach English in 1579 and another to teach reading and writing
in 1584.

There was a girls' school at Felpham by 1818, whose site is unknown. Boys then went to school
in South Bersted, but a boys' National school was opened in 1831 near the junction of Flansham
Lane and Middleton Road; the position was evidently chosen as central among the various
settlements in Felpham and Middleton parishes, since pupils from Middleton had apparently
attended school in Felpham in 1818

Finance was then provided by subscriptions and an annual charity sermon, but in 1833 by
subscriptions and donations only. In 1846-7 the school was known as Felpham and Middleton
school, though later nomenclature varied. Average attendance was 22 boys and 28 girls in
1855 School pence were also received at that period, but a government grant is not recorded
before 1874.

A pair of war memorial cottages for occupation by poor people were built by subscription in
Flansham Lane in 1920. (fn. 699)






